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Directors David Spence - Chairman
James Spenceley - Chief Executive Officer
Mark de Kock
Jonathan brett
John Murphy
Nicholas McNaughton
Paul McConnell

Company secretary Mark Simpson

Notice of annual general meeting The annual general meeting of Vocus Communications Limited:

will be held at Computershare Investor Services
Level 4
60 Carrington Street
Sydney NSW 2000

time 11 AM (registration open from 10 AM)

date Tuesday 26 October 2010

Registered office Vocus House
Level 1
189 Miller Street
North Sydney NSW 2060
Telephone (02) 8999 8999

Principal place of business Vocus House
Level 1
189 Miller Street
North Sydney NSW 2060
Telephone (02) 8999 8999

Share register Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Level 4
60 Carrington Street
Sydney NSW 2000
Phone: 1300 787 272

Auditor Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Grosvenor Place
225 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Solicitors Thomsons Lawyers
Level 25
Australia Square Tower
264 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000

bankers Commonwealth bank of Australia
Suite 2 Level 19
111 Pacific Highway
North Sydney NSW 2060

Stock exchange listing Vocus Communications Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities 
Exchange (ASX code: VOC)

Website address www.vocus.com.au
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Dear Vocus Shareholder,

I repeat my quote from our listing date on June 16th 
where I said;

 “At Vocus, money is made the old fashion 
wholesale way – buying network access and first 
class network management assets in bulk and 
selling in unique parts after adding our value of 
robustness, technical service and optimization. 
Vocus wants to grow fast and profitably. It has and 
will do this by sticking to a simple business model 
and pushing hard to achieve its objectives.”

I am pleased to report that Vocus has achieved all its 
objectives for this past year.

Since the inception of the business in March 2008, 
Vocus has rapidly grown revenue and profits. Vocus’ 
key organic growth opportunities are in data, voice 
and IP transit areas. The 2010 financial year was 
an exceptional year that produced an excellent set 
of results by any metric. Revenue was up 242% 
to approximately $17.5 million having exceeded 
guidance provided to the market through the recent 
prospectus. Net profit after tax was up 355% to 
approximately $3.8 million, while earnings per 
share was up 325% to 15.67 cents per share. 

CHAIRMAN’S 
LETTER

>   THE 2009/2010 yEAR HAS 
bEEN A MOST SIGNIfICANT 
yEAR Of GROWTH AND 
DEVELOPMENT IN THE VOCUS 
COMMUNICATIONS bUSINESS 
SINCE THE INCORPORATION Of 
THE bUSINESS IN EARLy 2008. 
WITH GREAT PLEASURE, I AM AbLE 
TO REPORT TO yOU THAT THE 
yEAR TO JUNE 30 2010 HAS bEEN 
A yEAR Of GREAT SUCCESS.
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This growth was driven by Vocus’ successful  
exploitation and operating leverage of its investment  
in international submarine fibre optic cable access  
rights and associated network.

Weighted average basic earnings per share for the 
Consolidated Entity was *15.67 cents per share (2009: 
3.69 cents per share). Going forward the weighted 
average basic earnings per share calculation will have a 
higher threshold weighted shares outstanding as indicated 
by the 51,069,053 ordinary shares outstanding at 30 
June 2010. On this basis and as a benchmark for future 
period earnings per share, the Consolidated Entity’s gross 
earnings per share for 2010 was approximately 7.5 
cents per share.

PROSPECTS
As a wholesale-only operator, the Consolidated Entity 
will occupy a strong competitive position making it an 
attractive service provider to its current and potential 
customers. It is intended that the Consolidated Entity will 
grow its market share through concentrated sales efforts in 
these markets and by developing new service offerings.

It is also intended that the Consolidated Entity will grow 
via acquisition in the markets in which it is currently active, 
and adjacent markets where this allows the Consolidated 
Entity to cross sell its increased product set to its existing 
customer base and to the newly acquired customer base.

A cornerstone of the success to date has been the 
company’s ability to attract and retain a technically 
talented and committed group of people to fulfil the key 
functions required to manage the speed of growth and 
technical complexity of our business. My congratulations 
and thanks go to all members of the Vocus team for 
the effort and achievements during the past year. The 
year ahead is one the Vocus team embark upon with 
considerable optimism and a committed resolve to 
develop all our Vocus people in our core business 
functions. We are also looking at all the human resource 
opportunities that we see arising in this changing 

telecommunications market as we remain committed to 
being a technically first class wholesale network provider.

Finally, I want to thank all shareholders for their support 
during and after the listing on the ASX via the reverse 
acquisition of First Opportunity Fund and on behalf of 
the Vocus Board of Directors, I can assure you, that 
whilst we are indeed pleased about what the Company 
had achieved over the past year we are fully aware 
of the need to remain focused on our core business 
and maintaining the growth in line with our overall 
capabilities. This will allow us to strengthen our wholesale 
position and to sustainably expand the Vocus business 
during the year ahead.

DAVID SPENCE 
CHAIRMAN

9 September 2010

FY 09

FY 10

3.69

15.67

Earnings Per Share 
(cents)
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As this is our first annual report as an ASX listed 
company, I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
all of our staff, shareholders and customers who have 
supported the company during it’s startup phase. In 
addition I’d like to thank the existing shareholders of 
Vocus Communications Limited (formerly know as First 
Opportunity Fund Limited) for supporting the transaction 
and welcome our new shareholders from the  
public placement. 

Since inception, Vocus has continually grown revenue 
and achieved great profits. The 2010 financial year was 
an exceptional year for Vocus, notably marked by our 
debut on the ASX but also due to the rapid success of 
our core products in the Australia and New Zealand ISP 
and Telecommunications Industry.

In only a few years we have become one of the largest 
suppliers of wholesale Internet access to ISPs and Telcos 
across two countries, and achieved this growth while 
offering excellent customer service and support to a 
customer base that has itself grown significantly. 

As the business has matured and grown, our ability 
to attract larger and more established customers has 
increased and the year has seen us winning much larger 
customers such as Vodafone and iiNet. This is testament 
to the skill and hard work of the entire Vocus team and 
the reputation of the Vocus Network. 

CHIEf 
EXECUTIVE 
OffICER’S 
REPORT

>   VOCUS IS AN EXCITING, fAST 
GROWING COMPANy WITH A 
fOCUS ON PROfITAbILITy AND 
INDUSTRy LEADING CUSTOMER 
SERVICE, AND WE’D LIKE TO 
WELCOME yOU TO THE TEAM.

Chief Executive Officer’s Report      03
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03 Chief Executive Officer’s Report

THE MAJOR fOCUS Of OUR 
2010 SUCCESS WAS AROUND
> Significant new customer acquisition 

and spread

> Establishment of Vocus as a major 
Industry player

> Attracting cornerstone customers for 
new products

> Strong control of costs 

> Strengthened internal process  
and procedures

> Access to additional markets to find 
accelerated growth

KEy fINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
Of 2010
> Revenue up 242% 

> EBITDA up by 641% 

> Net Profit up 355%

> Earnings Per Share up 325% 

KEy PRODUCT & MARKET 
HIGHLIGHTS Of 2010
> Data sales up 316%

> Voice sales up 133%

> Australian revenues up 170%

> New Zealand revenues up 1116%

> US revenues up 364% (from a  
lower base)

FY 09

FY 10

5.11

17.48

Revenue 
($m)

FY 09

FY 10

0.84

3.81

NPAT 
($m)

FY 09

FY 10 8.15

1.10

EBITDA 
($m)
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STRENGTHENING THE bUSINESS
Towards the end of the year we welcomed David Spence 
as the Chairmain of Vocus Communications Limited. 
David is one of the most respected and experienced 
Telecommunications professionals in the country. His dual 
strengths in the finance world and technical knowledge 
are a huge positive for the board and I would like to 
thank David for his assistance and guidance to date.

LOOKING fORWARD 
Vocus specialises in the delivery of complicated wholesale 
voice and data services. We love to run networks in a 
world where, increasingly companies don’t want to own 
a physical network. Most importantly, we also know how 
to operate a network efficiently. This allows us to manage 
and operate networks profitably, at a lower price point 
than our bigger competitors.

This advantage has seen us achieve significant growth 
in the markets we have entered and across our product 
offering. The year ahead will see Vocus leverage our 
excellent brand and customer base by offering new 
products and services. In addition we will assess 
opportunities in other regions in Asia/Pacific plus focus 
on value creating acquisitions that will allow us to build 
further scale to the Vocus business. 

NbN
We see a number of positives for Vocus in a post NBN 
world. In the most simplistic terms if we increase the 
speed of access to the Internet, consumers use more 
Internet which drives demand for International Internet (our 
core product). Additionally we think Vocus is positioned 
well to be an independent wholesale provider of NBN 
services to the smaller ISPs and new Retail Service 
Providers. We will continue to assess opportunities from 
the NBN as it deploys in the coming years. 

2010 was a year of significant change in the 
telecommunications industry and the 2011 financial year 
looks set to continue that trend. Vocus as one of most 
nimble and aggressive independent providers is well 
positioned to benefit from such change. Vocus now has 
significant cash reserves, an experienced management 
team and excellent internal processes. In short we are 
perfectly situated to take advantage of opportunities as 
they arise. 

JAMES SPENCELEy 
CEO

9 September 2010
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The directors present their report on the Consolidated 
Entity (referred to hereafter as the ‘Consolidated Entity’) 
consisting of Vocus Communications Limited (referred to 
hereafter as the ‘Company’ or ‘Parent Entity’) and the 
entities it controlled for the year ended 30 June 2010.

DIRECTORS
The following persons were directors of Vocus 
Communications Limited during the whole of the financial 
year and up to the date of this report, unless otherwise 
stated:

David Spence  (appointed on 16 June 2010)

James Spenceley  (appointed on 30 June 2010)

Mark de Kock  (appointed on 30 June 2010)

Jonathan Brett

John Murphy

Nicholas McNaughton  (appointed on 30 June 2010)

Paul McConnell  (appointed on 30 June 2010)

Dr John Keniry AM  (resigned on 30 June 2010)

Alan Chonowitz  (resigned on 30 June 2010)

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
During the financial year the principal continuing activity 
of the Consolidated Entity consisted of the provision of 
wholesale telecommunications services.

DIVIDENDS
There were no dividends paid by the Parent Entity during 
the current or previous financial years.

Prior to being acquired by the Company, Vocus Group 
Limited paid dividends totalling $1,079,500 (2009: 
$nil) to holders of its ordinary shares.

REVIEW Of OPERATIONS
The profit for the Consolidated Entity after providing for 
income tax amounted to $3,813,409 (30 June 2009: 
$837,391).

Weighted average basic earnings per share for the 
Consolidated Entity was 15.67 cents per share (2009: 
3.69 cents per share). Going forward the weighted 
average basic earnings per share calculation will 
have a higher threshold weighted shares outstanding 
as indicated by the 51,069,053 ordinary shares 
outstanding at 30 June 2010. On this basis and as 

a benchmark for future period earnings per share, the 
Consolidated Entity’s gross earnings per share for 2010 
was approximately 7.5 cents per share.

OVERVIEW

Vocus Group Limited was formed in 2008 and via the 
group reorganisation, listed on the Australian Stock 
Exchange on 8 July 2010. James Spenceley was one 
of the original founders of the business and is the current 
Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO’) of the Company.

GROUP REORGANISATION

The consolidated results reflect a full year of Vocus 
Group Limited and its controlled entities plus Vocus 
Communications Limited (formerly known as First 
Opportunity Fund Limited) from 30 June 2010. The 
comparative period results reflect Vocus Group Limited 
and its controlled entities only.

On 30 June 2010 First Opportunity Fund Limited 
(subsequently changed to Vocus Communications Limited) 
acquired 100% of the issued shares in Vocus Group 
Limited and its controlled entities. According to the 
accounting standards, this transaction did not meet the 
definition of a business combination and instead has 
been accounted for as a group reorganisation, using 
the principles of reverse acquisition accounting in AASB 
3 ‘Business Combinations’, since the substance of the 
transaction is that Vocus Group Limited has effectively 
been recapitalised. The consolidated financial statements 
and the share capital have been prepared as if Vocus 
Group Limited had acquired Vocus Communications 
Limited and its controlled entities, not vice versa as 
represented by the legal position.

ACqUISITION Of INTANGIbLE  
ACCESS RIGHTS

On 1 July 2009 the Consolidated Entity entered 
into a Capacity Use Agreement with Southern Cross 
Cables Limited, whereby capacity is supplied to the 
Consolidated Entity over a defined usage period in 
return for a non-refundable amount being paid to 
Southern Cross Cables Limited over a defined payment 
term. For the current financial year this capacity supply 
arrangement resulted in the contractual obligation to 
make the payment to Southern Cross Cables Limited 
being recorded as a liability and an intangible 
indefeasible right to use (‘IRU’) asset being recorded 
for the corresponding amount which will be amortised 
across the usage period on a straight line basis.

Director’s Report      04
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bOARD MEMbERS

There were a number of changes of board personnel, 
as a result of the group reorganisation described above, 
and these are detailed in the appropriate section of this 
report and under ‘Directors’. The Company wishes to 
express its gratitude to the outgoing directors and thank 
each of them for their hard work and commitment.

REVIEW Of fINANCIAL POSITION

The financial position of the Consolidated Entity is very 
strong with excellent liquidity.

Cash held by the Consolidated Entity will be used to 
fund organic growth and as a component in future 
acquisitions which are complimentary to the business.

SIGNIfICANT CHANGES IN THE 
STATE Of AffAIRS
The Company disposed of its residual wine related 
assets and distributed the net proceeds by way of 
reduction in capital before the acquisition of Vocus 
Group Limited. In the process, the Company applied for 
revocation of its pooled development fund status under 
the Pooled Development Funds Act 1992 and raised $6 
million (before share issue expenses) by way of share 
placements and an underwritten public offer at the issue 
price of $0.50 per share.

The Company completed the acquisition of Vocus Group 
Limited on 30 June 2010 and the Company’s acquisition 
of Vocus Group Limited represents a significant change 
in the nature and scale of the Company’s activities.

Group reorganisation - First Opportunity 
Fund Limited and Vocus Group Limited and its 
controlled entities

On 30 June 2010 First Opportunity Fund Limited, a 
listed Public Company, completed a successful takeover 
offer for Vocus Group Limited and its controlled entities. 
Refer to ‘Review of operations’ for further information on 
the group reorganisation.

RELISTING AND CHANGE Of NAME

On 8 July 2010 the Company relisted on the Australian 
Securities Exchange and, as part of the group 
reorganisation changed its name from First Opportunity 
Fund Limited to Vocus Communications Limited.

There were no other significant changes in the state  
of affairs of the Consolidated Entity during the  
financial year.

MATTERS SUbSEqUENT TO THE 
END Of THE fINANCIAL yEAR
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 
2010 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the Consolidated Entity’s operations, the results of 
those operations, or the Consolidated Entity’s state of 
affairs in future financial years.

LIKELy DEVELOPMENTS 
AND EXPECTED RESULTS Of 
OPERATIONS
Information on likely developments in the operations 
of the Consolidated Entity and the expected results of 
operations have not been included in this report because 
the directors believe it would be likely to result in 
unreasonable prejudice to the Consolidated Entity.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Consolidated Entity is not subject to any 
significant environmental regulation under Australian 
Commonwealth or State law.

INfORMATION ON DIRECTORS

DAVID SPENCE

Non-Executive Director and Chairman  
(appointed on 16 June 2010), B.Com, CA (SA)

Experience and expertise

David is well known in the internet and communications 
industry both in Australia and New Zealand. He 
has been involved in over 20 internet businesses, as 
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO’), director, 
shareholder or advisor. Until February 2010, David held 
the role of CEO at Unwired Ltd. Since joining Unwired 
in January of 2004, David grew that company from 
a handful of employees to one of the world’s largest 
portable wireless broadband carriers, servicing in 
excess of 70,000 customers in the greater Sydney and 
Melbourne areas. From 1995 until 2000, David held 
various positions with OzEmail, including Managing 
Director and CEO. He grew the business to become 
Australia’s second largest ISP. David is a past Chairman 
of the board of the Internet Industry Association.

Other current directorships: AWA Limited

04 Director’s Report
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Former directorships (in the last 3 years): Unwired 
Limited

Special responsibilities: None

Interests in shares: None

Interests in options: None

JAMES SPENCELEy 

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 
(appointed on 30 June 2010)

Experience and expertise

James is the founder and Chief Executive Officer of Vocus 
Group Limited. He has been involved with the Internet 
and telecommunications industry for more than 12 years. 
During this time James was the network architect and 
infrastructure manager of the $300 million COMindico 
(acquired by Soul Pattinson Telecom, now TPG Telecom) 
network, which was widely regarded as the single 
largest and first converged voice and data network in 
Australia. Additionally, James was a member of the team 
responsible for buying and connecting COMindico to 
the USA via the Southern Cross Cable at COMindico 
and created the consolidated entity’s wholesale IP transit 
product. James is the founding director of Australian 
Network Operators Group (AusNOG) and sits on 
the board of the Asia Pacific Network Information 
Centre (APNIC), one of five Regional Internet Registries 
(RIRs) appointed by ICANN (Internet Corporation for 
Assigned Names and Numbers) which allocates and is 
responsible for the management of IP addresses for the 
whole of the Asia Pacific region.

Other current directorships: None 

Former directorships (in the last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: None

Interests in shares: 8,732,907 ordinary shares

Interests in options: 500,000 options over ordinary 
shares

MARK DE KOCK

General Manager of Corporate Strategy and 
Executive Director (appointed on 30 June 2010),   
B.Sc (Hons.)

Experience and expertise

Mark is the General Manager of Corporate Strategy, 
responsible for determining and managing the 
consolidated entity’s growth strategy. He has over 20 
years’ experience in information and communication 
technology. Mark has managed the automation of 

several stock exchanges in Asia, managed the original 
technical design, the launch and operation of the qantas 
website and held senior roles with SingTel Optus, 
Vodafone AU, HP (Tandem/ Compaq) and Accenture. 
Mark holds a B.Sc (First class honours) in Electrical 
Engineering from University College London, as well 
as attending the AGSM (execMBA) and the Beijing 
University of Post and Telecommunications.

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (in the last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: None

Interests in shares: 431,000 ordinary shares

Interests in options: 500,000 options over ordinary 
shares

JONATHAN bRETT 

Non-Executive Director, B.Acc, B.Com, MCom,  
CA (SA)

Experience and expertise 

Jonathan has extensive experience in the areas of 
management, operations, finance and corporate 
advisory. Jonathan’s experience includes several years 
as managing director of a number of publicly listed 
companies and was also formerly the non executive 
deputy president of the National Roads and Motoring 
Association (‘NRMA’). Jonathan is currently on the 
board of several unlisted companies and is a director of 
Investec Wentworth Private Equity Limited (‘IWPE’).

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (in the last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Chairman of Risk Management 
and Audit Committee

Interests in shares: 2,794,695 ordinary shares

Interests in options: None

JOHN MURPHy

Non-Executive Director, B.Com, M.Com, FASCPA

Experience and expertise

John is the Managing Director of Investec Wentworth 
Private Equity Limited (‘IWPE’), a private equity 
investment company and a director of Investec Bank 
(Australia) Limited. He has extensive experience in the 
areas of corporate recovery, corporate finance and 
mergers and acquisitions. Prior to establishing the 
IWPE Funds, John spent 26 years with an international 
accounting firm where he held national and  
regional responsibilities.

Director’s Report      04
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Other current directorships: Ariadne Australia Limited, 
Gale Pacific Limited, Speciality Fashion Group Limited 
and Clearview Wealth Limited

Former directorships (in the last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Member of Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee

Interests in shares: 449,371 ordinary shares

Interests in options: None

NICHOLAS MCNAUGHTON

Non-Executive Director (appointed on 30 June 
2010), AICD

Experience and expertise

Nicholas is currently studying an MBA from the 
International Graduate School of Business at the University 
of South Australia. He is also a member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors, Deputy Chairman of 
Capital Angels and a founding member of Sydney 
Angels. In 2007, with backing from Japan, Nicholas 
established Blue Cove Ventures, a venture capital 
company committed to supporting gifted entrepreneurs 
in building prosperous technology companies. During 
his career he has been an integral member of the start-
up teams of globally successful software companies 
including Allaire (listed on NASDAQ in 1998 and sold 
to Macromedia in 2001); Soulmates Technology (sold to 
NASDAQ: IACI in 2002) and Wily Technology (sold to 
NYSE: Computer Associates in 2006).

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (in the last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Chairman of Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee and Member of Risk 
Management and Audit Committee

Interests in shares: 727,598 ordinary shares

Interests in options: None

PAUL MCCONNELL

Non-Executive Director (appointed on 30 June 2010), 
B.Sc

Experience and expertise

Paul has over 21 years’ information and communication 
technology experience and has over 15 years’ 
experience in successful financial management with a 
specific focus on telecommunications. He established 
the oldest Canberra based ISP, OfficeLink+, and was 
responsible for connecting the Australian Parliament 

House to the Internet. Paul joined Vocus Group Limited 
during its early formative stages as Chairman and was the 
Chief Financial Officer until December 2009. Paul holds 
a Bachelor of Science in Information Technology and 
Mathematics (Australian National University).

Other current directorships: None

Former directorships (in the last 3 years): None

Special responsibilities: Member of Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee and Risk Management and 
Audit Committee

Interests in shares: 10,683,873 ordinary shares

Interests in options: None

‘Other current directorships’ quoted above are current 
directorships for listed entities only and excludes 
directorships in all other types of entities, unless otherwise 
stated.

‘Former directorships (in the last 3 years)’ quoted above 
are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities 
only and excludes directorships in all other types of 
entities, unless otherwise stated.

COMPANy SECRETARy
Mark Simpson joined Vocus on 6 July 2010 from Sparke 
Helmore Lawyers, where he was a corporate partner 
in the firm’s Commercial Group. Mark has 15 years 
experience in corporate and commercial law working for 
top tier firms in Australia and the UK. Mark has extensive 
experience in private treaty mergers and acquisitions, 
private and venture capital investment, IPOs, MBOs, 
corporate structuring and general corporate advisory 
work. Prior to qualifying as a lawyer, Mark was a 
corporate finance analyst for an American investment 
bank in London.

MEETINGS Of DIRECTORS
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of 
Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2010, and 
the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

Full BOarD

attEnDED HElD

Dr John Keniry AM 6 6 

Jonathan Brett 6 6 

John Murphy 6 6 

Alan Chonowitz 5 6 
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Held: represents the number of meetings held during the 
time the director held office.

Following the group reorganisation, no meetings were 
held prior to the year end which new directors were 
eligible to attend.

Prior to the group reorganisation, the size of the 
Company and the previous board were such that all 
matters pertaining to the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee and Risk Management and Audit Committee 
were dealt with at the Board meetings.

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
The remuneration report, which has been audited, outlines 
the director and executive remuneration arrangements for 
the Consolidated Entity and the Company, in accordance 
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
its Regulations.

The remuneration report is set out under the following 
main headings:

A Principles used to determine the nature and  
amount of remuneration

B Details of remuneration

C Service agreements

D Share-based compensation

E Additional information

A  PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE 
NATURE AND AMOUNT Of REMUNERATION

Given the size of the Company and Consolidated Entity, 
the directors considered that a formal remuneration 
committee was not previously required. However, on 28 
June 2010 a nomination and remuneration committee 
was established given the group reorganisation.

The review and determination of the directors’ fees is 
considered by the Board of Directors (the Board) from  
time to time as required and recommendations are made 
to shareholders.

Non-executive directors remuneration

ASX listing rules requires that the aggregate non-executive 
directors’ remuneration shall be determined periodically 
by a general meeting.

Consolidated entity performance and link  
to remuneration

The directors’ remuneration levels are not directly 
dependent upon the Company or Consolidated Entity’s 
performance or any other performance conditions. 
However, practically, whether shareholders vote for or 
against an increase in the aggregate remuneration will 
depend upon, amongst other things, how the Company 
and Consolidated Entity have performed.

b  DETAILS Of REMUNERATION

Amounts of remuneration

Details of the remuneration of the directors, other key 
management personnel (defined as those who have the 
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the major activities of the Consolidated Entity) 
and specified executives of Vocus Communications Limited 
are set out in the following tables.

The key management personnel of the Consolidated 
Entity consisted of the directors of Vocus Communications 
Limited and the following executives:

Richard Correll (Chief Financial Officer)•	

Paul Brooks (Director of Vocus Group Limited) - •	
Resigned 30 June 2010

Director’s Report      04

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



16

2010

SHOrt-tErm BEnEFItS

POSt-
EmPlOymEnt 

BEnEFItS
lOng-tErm 

BEnEFItS

SHarE-
BaSED 

PaymEntS

Total
Cash salary 

and fees Bonus
Non-

monetary Superannuation
Long service 

leave Equity settled

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive 
Directors:

J Keniry* 40,000  -  - 3,600  -  - 43,600 

D Spence** 40,000  -  -  -  -  - 40,000 

N McNaughton** 11,000  -  -  -  -  - 11,000 

P McConnell** 69,498 41,096  -  -  - 54,022 164,616 

Executive 
Directors:

J Spenceley** 220,000 168,501  - 19,800  -  - 408,301 

M de Kock** 117,468  -  - 10,572  - 25,417 153,457 

R Correll*** 119,016  -  - 10,711  - 2,542 132,269 

P Brooks*** 6,000  -  -  -  -  - 6,000 

* represents remuneration as director of the Company for the entire year.
** represents remuneration as key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity. No remuneration was paid as a director of the 
Company since the period of appointment.
*** represents remuneration as key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity.

The directors and key management personnel received remuneration above totalling $959,243 during the  
financial year. A Chonowitz, J Brett and J Murphy received no remuneration as key management personnel during  
the financial year.

2009

SHOrt-tErm BEnEFItS

POSt-
EmPlOymEnt 

BEnEFItS
lOng-tErm 

BEnEFItS

SHarE-
BaSED 

PaymEntS

Total
Cash salary 

and fees Bonus
Non-

monetary Superannuation
Long service 

leave Equity settled

Name $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive 
Directors:

J Keniry* 40,000  -  - 3,600  -  - 43,600 

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:

P McConnell** 9,000  -  - -  - 1,594 10,594

J Spenceley** 80,000 50,000  - 7,200  -  - 137,200

* represents remuneration as director of the Company for 2009.
** represents remuneration as key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity for 2009.
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The directors and key management personnel received remuneration above totalling $191,394 during the previous 
financial year.

The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:

Name

FIxED rEmunEratIOn at rISk - StI at rISk - ltI

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Non-Executive 
Directors:

J Keniry 100% 100% - % - % - % - %

D Spence 100% - % - % - % - % - %

N McNaughton 100% - % - % - % - % - %

Other Key 
Management 
Personnel:

P McConnell 42% 85% 25% - % 33% 15%

J Spenceley 59% 64% 41% 36% - % - %

M de Kock 83% - % - % - % 17% - %

R Correll 98% - % - % - % 2% - %

P Brooks 100% - % - % - % - % - %

C  SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. 
Details of these agreements are as follows:

name: James Spenceley

title: Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

agreement commenced: 1 July 2010

term of agreement: Ongoing

Details: Base salary for the year ending 30 June 2011 
of $260,000 plus superannuation, to be reviewed 
annually. 6 month termination notice by either party. 
Eligible to participate in Share Option Plan.

name: Mark de Kock

title: Executive Director and General Manager 
Corporate Strategy

agreement commenced: 1 July 2010

term of agreement: Ongoing

Details: Base salary for the year ending 30 June 2011 
of $192,661 plus superannuation, to be reviewed 
annually. 3 month termination notice by either party. 
Eligible to participate in Share Option Plan.

name: Richard Correll

title: Chief Financial Officer

agreement commenced: 1 July 2010

term of agreement: Ongoing

Details: Base salary for the year ending 30 June 2011 
of $193,000 plus superannuation, to be reviewed 
annually. 3 month termination notice by either party.

name: Mark Simpson

title: General Counsel and Company Secretary

agreement commenced: 1 July 2010

term of agreement: Ongoing

Details: Base salary for the year ending 30 June 2011 
of $200,000, pro rata for 3 days per week, plus 
superannuation, to be reviewed annually. 1 month 
termination notice by either party.
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D  SHARE-bASED COMPENSATION

Issue of shares

There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the 
year ended 30 June 2010.

Options

The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in this financial year or future reporting 
years are as follows:

grant DatE
VEStIng DatE anD 
ExErCISaBlE DatE ExPIry DatE ExErCISE PrICE

FaIr ValuE PEr OPtIOn 
at grant DatE 

1 July 2008 * 30 June 2010 1 July 2018 $0.10 $0.01

1 October 2009 * 30 June 2011 30 September 2019 $1.00 $0.25

30 June 2010 ** 30 June 2011 30 June 2011 $0.75 $0.07

30 June 2010 ** 30 June 2012 30 June 2012 $0.90 $0.14

30 June 2010 ** 30 June 2013 30 June 2013 $1.20 $0.16

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.  
* represents options issued in Vocus Group Limited and were exercised prior to group reorganisation
** represents options issued in Vocus Communications Limited 

Details of options over ordinary shares issued to directors and other key management personnel during the year 
ended 30 June 2010 are set out below:

Name

numBEr OF OPtIOnS grantED 
DurIng tHE yEar

numBEr OF OPtIOnS VEStED 
DurIng tHE yEar

2010 2009 2010 2009

J Spenceley ** 500,000  -  -  - 

M de Kock ** 500,000  -  -  - 

P McConnell * 200,000 250,000 450,000  - 

M de Kock * 100,000  - 100,000  - 

R Correll * 10,000  - 10,000  - 

* options in Vocus Group Limited exercised prior to group reorganisation
** options in Vocus Communications Limited
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The number of options originally issued to directors and other key management personnel totalled 560,000. These 
were exercised for $335,000 during the period and resulted in the issue of 560,000 shares of Vocus Group Limited. 
No amount remains unpaid on the exercise of these options.

Values of options over ordinary shares granted, exercised and lapsed for directors and other key management 
personnel during the year ended 30 June 2010 are set out below:

namE

ValuE OF 
OPtIOnS 
grantED 

DurIng tHE yEar

ValuE OF 
OPtIOnS 

ExErCISED 
DurIng tHE yEar

ValuE OF 
OPtIOnS laPSED 
DurIng tHE yEar 

rEmunEratIOn 
COnSIStIng OF 

OPtIOnS FOr tHE 
yEar

$ $ $ %

J Spenceley 63,289  -  -  - 

M de Kock 63,289  -  -  - 

P McConnell 50,000 269,197  - 32.82 

M de Kock 25,000 59,821  - 16.60 

R Correll 2,500 5,982  - 1.90 

E  ADDITIONAL INfORMATION

The Consolidated Entity has been paid $1,680,000 for the exercise of options during the financial year for the 
issuance of 2,000,000 ordinary shares in Vocus Communications Limited being exercised by Alan Chonowitz and 
Jonathan Brett, and 1,200,000 ordinary shares in Vocus Group Limited. No amount remains unpaid.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.

SHARES UNDER OPTION
Unissued ordinary shares of Vocus Communications Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

grant DatE ExPIry DatE ExErCISE PrICE numBEr unDEr OPtIOn

30 June 2010 30 June 2011 $0.75 333,333 

30 June 2010 30 June 2012 $0.90 333,333 

30 June 2010 30 June 2013 $1.20 333,334 

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE Of OPTIONS
The following ordinary shares of Vocus Communications Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2010 on 
the exercise of options granted:

DatE OPtIOnS ExErCISED ExErCIS PrICE numBEr OF SHarES ISSuED 

21 June 2010 $0.60 2,000,000 

30 June 2010 * $0.10 800,000 

30 June 2010 * $1.00 400,000 

* shares in Vocus Group Ltd            
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04 Director’s Report

INDEMNITy AND INSURANCE  
Of OffICERS
The Company has indemnified the directors of the 
Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a 
director, for which they may be held personally liable, 
except where there is a lack of good faith.

During the financial year the company paid a premium 
in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the 
Company, the company secretary, and all executive 
officers of the Company and any related body corporate, 
against a liability incurred as such a director, company 
secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by 
the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance 
prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the 
amount of the premium.

INDEMNITy AND INSURANCE  
Of AUDITOR
The Company has not otherwise, during or since the 
financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the 
auditor of the Company or any related entity against a 
liability incurred by the auditor.

During the financial year, the Company has not paid a 
premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of 
the Company or any related entity.

PROCEEDINGS ON bEHALf Of  
THE COMPANy
No person has applied to the Court under section 
237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in 
any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the 
purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company 
for all or part of those proceedings.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor 
for non-audit services provided during the financial year 
by the auditor are outlined in note 31 to the financial 
statements.

The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-
audit services during the financial year, by the auditor 
(or by another person or firm on the auditor’s behalf), is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.

The directors are of the opinion that the services as 
disclosed in note 31 to the financial statements do not 
compromise the external auditor’s independence for the 
following reasons:

all non-audit services have been reviewed and •	
approved to ensure that they do not impact the 
integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and

none of the services undermine the general principles •	
relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing 
the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or 
decision-making capacity for the Company, acting 
as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing 
economic risks and rewards.

OffICERS Of THE COMPANy WHO 
ARE fORMER AUDIT PARTNERS Of 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
There are no officers of the Company who are former 
audit partners of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE 
DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as 
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 
2001 is set out on the following page.

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continues in office in 
accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 
2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution  
of directors.

On behalf of the directors

 JAMES SPENCELEy 
DIRECTOR

30 August 2010

Sydney
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05 Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

  
  

 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place 
Sydney NSW 1217 Australia 
 
DX 10307SSE 
Tel:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7000 
Fax:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30 August 2010 

 

 

Dear Board Members 

 

Vocus Communications Limited (formerly known as First Opportunity Fund) 

 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the 

following declaration of independence to the directors of Vocus Communications Limited. 

 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Vocus Communications 

Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2010, I declare that to the best of my knowledge 

and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation 

to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   

 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

 
 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 

 
Joshua Tanchel 

Partner  

Chartered Accountants 

 

The Board of Directors 

Vocus Communications Limited 

Level 1, Vocus House 

189 Miller Street, North Sydney 

NSW 2060 
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This is a Corporate Governance Statement for Vocus Communications Limited (ABN 96 084 115 499) (‘Company’) 
reporting on the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations issued by 
the ASX Corporate Governance Council (‘Corporate Governance Principles’) as at 31 July 2010 in respect of the 
reporting period ended on 30 June 2010.

rECOmmEnDatIOn COmPly  
(yES/nO)

rEFErEnCE/ExPlanatIOn

1.1: Companies should establish the 
functions reserved to the Board and 
those delegated to senior executives and 
disclose those functions.

Yes The Company’s Board Charter is available on the 
Company’s website.

1.2: Companies should disclose the 
process for evaluating the performance of 
senior executives. 

Yes A summary of the processes for performance 
evaluation of key executives, directors and the Board 
is available on the Company’s website.

1.3: Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 1.

No See response to Recommendation 1.1.

A performance evaluation for senior executives has 
not taken place during the reporting period. Because 
of the acquisition of the Vocus Group of companies 
which took effect on 30 June 2010, current senior 
executives were not employed within the reporting 
group during the reporting period.

2.1: A majority of the Board should be 
independent directors.

No The composition of the Board and the independence 
status of its directors are as follows:

Director Independent 
(yes/no)

Comments

David Spence Yes Independent non-
executive chairman.

James 
Spenceley

No Chief Executive 
Officer

Mark de Kock No GM – Corporate 
Strategy.

Nicholas 
McNaughton

Yes Independent non-
executive director.

Paul 
McConnell

No Non-executive 
director, who is 
associated with 
a substantial 
shareholder of the 
Company and was 
employed by a 
subsidiary of the 
Company within the 
last 3 years.

Jonathan Brett No Non-executive 
director, who is 
associated with 
a substantial 
shareholder of the 
Company.
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rECOmmEnDatIOn COmPly  
(yES/nO)

rEFErEnCE/ExPlanatIOn

John Murphy No Non-executive 
director, who is 
associated with 
a substantial 
shareholder of the 
Company.

2.2: The chair should be an independent 
director.

Yes The Chairman of the Board is David Spence who is 
an independent non-executive director.

2.3: The roles of chair and chief 
executive officer should not be exercised 
by the same individual.

Yes The Chairman of the Board is David Spence who 
is an independent non-executive director. The Chief 
Executive Officer is James Spenceley.

2.4: The Board should establish 
a Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.

Yes A copy of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee Charter is available on the Company’s 
website.

2.5: Companies should disclose the 
process for evaluating the performance of 
the Board, its committees and individual 
directors.

Yes A summary of the processes for performance 
evaluation of key executives, directors and the Board 
is available on the Company’s website.

The Risk Management and Audit Committee and 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee each 
conducts a self-assessment annually in accordance 
with the respective Charters for those Committees.

2.6: Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 2.

Yes The skills, experience and expertise of each of the 
Company’s directors is set out in the Prospectus 
dated 16 May 2010 a copy of which is available 
on the Company’s website.

A list of directors and whether the Company 
considers them to be independent is set out in 
response to Recommendation 2.1 above.

The directors are entitled to take independent legal 
advice in accordance with the procedure set out in 
clause 10 of the Board Charter, a copy of which is 
available on the Company’s website.

As at 31 July 2010, each director has been in office 
for the following periods:

Jonathan Brett  11 years 11 months

John Murphy  7 years 5 months

David Spence 1 month

James Spenceley 1 month

Mark de Kock 1 month

Nicholas McNaughton 1 month

Paul McConnell 1 month 
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06 Corporate Governance Statement

rECOmmEnDatIOn COmPly  
(yES/nO)

rEFErEnCE/ExPlanatIOn

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee was 
established on 28 June 2010 and comprises of 
Nicholas McNaughton, Paul McConnell and John 
Murphy.

A performance evaluation for the Board has not 
taken place given the short period of time for which 
the majority of the board has been in office, and the 
acquisition of the Vocus group of companies which 
took place in June 2010. For future evaluations of 
the Board, see response to Recommendation 2.5.

3.1: Companies should establish a code 
of conduct and disclose the code or a 
summary of the code as to:

the practices necessary to maintain •	
confidence in the company’s integrity

the practices necessary to take into •	
account their legal obligations and 
the reasonable expectations of their 
stakeholders

the responsibility and accountability •	
of individuals for reporting and 
investigating reports of unethical 
practices.

Yes The Company’s Code of Conduct is available on the 
Company’s website.

3.2: Companies should establish a 
policy concerning trading in company 
securities by directors, senior executives 
and employees, and disclose the policy 
or a summary of that policy.

Yes The Company’s Securities Trading Policy is available 
on the Company’s website.

3.3: Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 3.

Yes See responses to Recommendations 3.1 and 3.2.

4.1: The board should establish an audit 
committee

Yes A copy of the Risk Management and Audit 
Committee Charter is available on the Company’s 
website.

4.2: The audit committee should be 
structured so that it:

consists only of non-executive •	
directors

consists of a majority of independent •	
directors 

is chaired by an independent chair, •	
who is not chair of the board

has at least three members.•	

No The Risk Management and Audit Committee 
comprises Jon Brett (Chair), Paul McConnell and 
Nicholas McNaughton. 

All are non-executive directors.

Only Nicholas McNaughton is an independent 
director. 

The chair is not an independent director. 

There are three members of the committee.

Given the structure of the Board and experience and 
expertise of Board members, the Board’s view is that 
the current membership of the Risk Management and 
Audit Committee are adequately qualified to fulfil this 
function.
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rECOmmEnDatIOn COmPly  
(yES/nO)

rEFErEnCE/ExPlanatIOn

4.3: The audit committee should have a 
formal charter.

Yes The Company’s Risk Management and Audit 
Committee Charter is available on the Company’s 
website. The Charter also sets out information on 
procedures for the selection and appointment of the 
external auditor, and for the rotation of external audit 
engagement partners.

4.4: Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 4.

Yes See response to Recommendations 4.2 and 4.3.

The Risk Management & Audit Committee was 
established on 28 June 2010 so did not meet in the 
financial year ending 30 June 2010.

5.1: Companies should establish written 
policies designed to ensure compliance 
with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and to ensure accountability 
at a senior executive level for that 
compliance and disclose those policies or 
a summary of those policies.

Yes The Company’s Communications and Continuous 
Disclosure Policy is available on the Company’s 
website.

5.2: Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 5.

Yes See response to Recommendation 5.1.

6.1: Companies should design a 
communications policy for promoting 
effective communication with shareholders 
and encouraging their participation 
at general meetings and disclose their 
policy or a summary of that policy.

Yes The Company’s Communications and Continuous 
Disclosure Policy is available on the Company’s 
website.

6.2: Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 6

Yes See response to Recommendation 6.1.

7.1: Companies should establish policies 
for the oversight and management of 
material business risks and disclose a 
summary of those policies.

Yes The Company has a Risk Management and Audit 
Committee which is responsible for the general 
oversight of risk management processes in the 
Company.

The Company’s Risk Management Policy and Risk 
Management and Audit Committee Charter are 
available on the Company’s website.

7.2: The board should require 
management to design and implement 
the risk management and internal 
control system to manage the company’s 
material business risks and report to it on 
whether those risks are being managed 
effectively. The board should disclose 
that management has reported to it as 
to the effectiveness of the company’s 
management of its material business risks.

Yes See response to Recommendation 7.1. 

In addition, the Company has adopted a 
Delegations Policy, a copy of which is available on 
the Company’s website.
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06 Corporate Governance Statement

rECOmmEnDatIOn COmPly  
(yES/nO)

rEFErEnCE/ExPlanatIOn

7.3: The board should disclose whether 
it has received assurance from the chief 
executive officer (or equivalent) and the 
chief financial officer (or equivalent) that 
the declaration provided in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations 
Act is founded on a sound system of risk 
management and internal control and that 
the system is operating effectively in all 
material respects in relation to financial 
reporting risks.

Yes Confirmation of receipt of a Declaration under 
section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is 
contained in the Annual Report.

7.4: Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 7.

Yes See response to Recommendations 7.1, 7.2 and 
7.3.

8.1: The board should establish a 
remuneration committee.

Yes See response to Recommendation 2.4 above.

8.2: Companies should clearly 
distinguish the structure of non-executive 
directors’ remuneration from that of 
executive directors and senior executives.

Yes See response to Recommendation 2.5 above.

8.3: Companies should provide the 
information indicated in the Guide to 
reporting on Principle 8.

Yes The Company’s Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee Charter and Securities Trading Policy are 
available on the Company’s website.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee was 
only established on 28 June 2010 and did not meet 
during the reporting period. Prior to that date, the 
function was carried out by the board.

Current members of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee are Nicholas McNaughton 
(Chair), Paul McConnell and John Murphy.
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07 financial Report
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GENERAL INfORMATION
The financial report covers Vocus Communications 
Limited as a Consolidated Entity consisting of Vocus 
Communications Limited and the entities it controlled.  
The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars, 
which is Vocus Communications Limited’s functional  
and presentation currency.

The financial report consists of the financial  
statements, notes to the financial statements and  
the directors’ declaration.

Vocus Communications Limited is a listed public  
company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia. Its registered office and principal place of 
business is:

Vocus House 

Level 1

189 Miller Street

North Sydney NSW 2060

A description of the nature of the Consolidated Entity’s 
operations and its principal activities are included in the 
directors’ report, which is not part of the financial report.

The financial report was authorised for issue, in 
accordance with a resolution of directors, on 30 August 
2010. The directors have the power to amend and 
reissue the financial report.

30 June 2010
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STATEMENT Of COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

nOtE

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Revenue 4 17,480,518 5,113,907 

Other income 5 1,236,787 116,000 

Expenses

Network and service delivery (6,487,690) (2,476,240)

Employee benefits expense (2,580,419) (811,780)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (2,075,215) (117,926)

Share of losses of associate  - (40,250)

Administration and other expenses (1,501,094) (801,678)

Finance costs 6 (378,411) (34,920)

Profit before income tax expense 5,694,476 947,113 

Income tax expense 7 (1,881,067) (109,722)

Profit after income tax expense for the year attributable to the 
owners of Vocus Communications Limited 27 3,813,409 837,391 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners 
of Vocus Communications Limited 3,813,409 837,391 

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 40 15.67 3.69 

Diluted earnings per share 40 15.67 3.61 

financial Report      07

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT Of fINANCIAL POSITION

nOtE

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 12,628,757 326,425 

Trade and other receivables 9 3,643,762 1,439,186 

Other financial assets 10 71,646 69,050 

Other 11 115,034 427,585 

Total current assets 16,459,199 2,262,246 

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 2,089,717 1,062,371 

Intangibles 13 19,853,401 479,758 

Deferred tax 14 484,883 54,716 

Other 15 144,252 88,904 

Total non-current assets 22,572,253 1,685,749 

Total assets 39,031,452 3,947,995 

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 16 9,627,668 1,164,026 

Borrowings 17 4,252,174 156,252 

Income tax 18 1,000,286 82,356 

Provisions 19 103,360 32,941 

Other 20 301,499 185,138 

Total current liabilities 15,284,987 1,620,713 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 21 13,146,763 686,708 

Deferred tax 22 721,410  - 

Other 23 14,316 138,732 

Total non-current liabilities 13,882,489 825,440 

Total liabilities 29,167,476 2,446,153 

Net assets 9,863,976 1,501,842 

Equity

Contributed equity 24 6,266,357 750,000 

Contributed capital 25 62,008 62,008 

Reserves 26 116,968 5,100 

Retained profits 27 3,418,643 684,734 

Total equity 9,863,976 1,501,842 
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STATEMENT Of CHANGES IN EqUITy

COntrIButED 
EquIty

COntrIButED 
CaPItal

SHarE BaSED 
PaymEnt 
rESErVE

rEtaInED 
PrOFItS tOtal EquIty

$ $ $ $ $

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2008 550,000  -  - (152,657) 397,343 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  -  -  - 837,391 837,391 

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Contributions of equity, net 
of transaction costs 200,000  -  -  - 200,000 

Share-based payments  -  - 5,100  - 5,100 

Shareholder contribution  - 62,008  -  - 62,008 

Balance at 30 June 2009 750,000 62,008 5,100 684,734 1,501,842 

COntrIButED 
EquIty

COntrIButED 
CaPItal

SHarE BaSED 
PaymEnt 
rESErVE

rEtaInED 
PrOFItS tOtal EquIty

$ $ $ $ $

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2009 750,000 62,008 5,100 684,734 1,501,842 

Total comprehensive income 
for the year  -  -  - 3,813,409 3,813,409 

Transactions with owners in 
their capacity as owners:

Share-based payments  -  - 111,868  - 111,868 

Contributions of equity in 
Vocus Group Limited, net of 
transaction costs 480,000  -  -  - 480,000 

Additional contribution on 
group reorganisation 4,878,269  -  -  - 4,878,269 

Share buy-back (6,523,504)  -  -  - (6,523,504)

Contributions of equity in 
Vocus Communications 
Limited, net of transaction 
costs 6,681,592  -  -  - 6,681,592 

Dividends paid  -  -  - (1,079,500) (1,079,500)

Balance at 30 June 2010 6,266,357 62,008 116,968 3,418,643 9,863,976 
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STATEMENT Of CASH fLOWS

nOtE

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 16,796,086 4,111,413 

Payments to suppliers (inclusive of GST) (10,543,400) (3,719,364)

6,252,686 392,049 

Interest received 5,538 4,051 

Other revenue 249,283  - 

Interest and other finance costs paid (243,679) (8,170)

Income taxes paid (450,000)  - 

Net cash from operating activities 39 5,813,828 387,930 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment (549,795) (210,257)

Payment for term deposits (57,944) (19,050)

Payment for intangible assets (2,865,982)  - 

Net cash used in investing activities (3,473,721) (229,307)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 24 7,680,000  - 

Proceeds from issue of convertible notes  - 200,000 

Capital raising costs (518,408)  - 

Repayment of borrowing to related parties (650,000) (76,019)

Repayment of leases (348,136)  - 

Additional contribution on group reorganisation 4,878,269  - 

Dividends paid 28 (1,079,500)  - 

Repayment of borrowings  - (76,302)

Net cash from financing activities 9,962,225 47,679 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12,302,332 206,302 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 326,425 120,123 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8 12,628,757 326,425 
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NOTES TO THE fINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. SIGNIfICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

new, revised or amending Standards and Interpretations
The Consolidated Entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are relevant and effective for the current reporting period.

Any significant impact on the accounting policies of the Consolidated Entity from the adoption of these accounting 
standards and interpretations are disclosed in the relevant accounting policy.

The adoption of these Standards and Interpretations did not have any impact on the financial performance or position 
of the Consolidated Entity. The following Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the Consolidated Entity:

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (‘AASB 101’)

The Consolidated Entity has applied the revised AASB 101 from 1 July 2009 and now presents a statement of 
comprehensive income, which incorporates the income statement and all non-owner changes in equity. As a result, 
the Consolidated Entity now presents all owner changes in the statement of changes in equity. The balance sheet is 
now referred to as the statement of financial position. There is a requirement to present a third statement of financial 
position if there is restatement of comparatives through either a correction of error, change in accounting policy or a 
reclassification. The cash flow statement is now referred to as the statement of cash flows.

AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, 
Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate

This amendment is applicable from 1 July 2009 and removes references to the cost method. The distinction between 
pre and post acquisition profits is no longer relevant as all dividends are now recognised in profit or loss - refer to the 
‘principles of consolidation’ accounting policy for further details.

AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosure (‘AASB 7’)

This amended standard is applicable from 1 July 2009 and requires additional disclosure about fair value measurement 
of financial instruments, using a three level fair value hierarchy. The amendments also clarify the disclosure requirements 
about liquidity risks for derivative transactions and assets used for liquidly management.

AASB 8 Operating Segments (‘AASB 8’)

The Consolidated Entity has applied AASB 8, which replaces AASB 114 ‘Segment Reporting’, from 1 January 2009. 
AASB 8 requires a management approach to segment reporting based on the information reported internally. Refer  
to note 3.

Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations 
Act 2001. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
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NOTE 1. SIGNIfICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Consolidated Entity’s accounting policies. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporates the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Vocus Communications 
Limited (‘Company’ or ‘Parent Entity’) as at 30 June 2010 and the results of all subsidiaries and special purpose entities 
for the year then ended. Vocus Communications Limited, its subsidiaries and special purpose entities together are 
referred to in these financial statements as the ‘Consolidated Entity’.

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Consolidated Entity has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The effects 
of potential exercisable voting rights are considered when assessing whether control exists. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Consolidated Entity. They are de-consolidated from the 
date that control ceases.

Special purpose entities (‘SPEs’) are those entities where the Consolidated Entity, in substance, controls the SPE so as to 
obtain the majority of benefits without having any ownership interest.

As a result of the group reorganisation as described in the ‘business combinations’ accounting policy, the Consolidated 
Entity presents its results as a continuation of Vocus Group Limited. The Consolidated Entity presents a full year of Vocus 
Group Limited and its controlled subsidiaries plus Vocus Communications Limited (formerly known as First Opportunity 
Fund Limited) for the 1 day of 30 June 2010, being the effective date of the group reorganisation. The comparatives 
are a full year of Vocus Group Limited and its controlled subsidiaries.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Consolidated Entity 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the 
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries and special purpose entities have been changed where necessary 
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Consolidated Entity.

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Refer to the ‘business 
combinations’ accounting policy for further details. A change in ownership interest, without the loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred and the book value 
of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent.

Where the Consolidated Entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities 
and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. 
The Consolidated Entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment 
retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss.

Operating segments

Change in accounting policy from 1 July 2009

Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented is on the same 
basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’). The CODM is responsible for 
the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance.

Accounting policy up to 30 June 2009

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject to 
risks and returns that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in providing 
products or services within a particular economic environment and is subject to risks and returns that are different to 
those of segments operating in other economic environments.
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Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into Australian Dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at financial year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian Dollars using the exchange rates at the 
reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated into Australian Dollars using the 
average exchange rates, which approximates the rate at the date of the transaction, for the period. All resulting foreign 
exchange differences are recognised in the foreign currency reserve in equity.

The foreign currency reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the foreign operation or net investment is 
disposed of.

revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Consolidated Entity and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Rendering of services

Rendering of services revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion 
of the contract.

Revenue from the provision of telecommunication services is recognised once the service has been 
rendered.

Stage of completion is measured by reference to labour hours incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated 
labour hours for each contract. Where the contract outcome cannot be reliably estimated, revenue is only recognised to 
the extent of the recoverable costs incurred to date.

Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest 
rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.
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NOTE 1. SIGNIfICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and unused tax losses and under and over provision in prior periods, where applicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when  
the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, 
except for:

When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability •	
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting nor taxable profits; or

When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in joint •	
ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available 
for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entity’s which intend to settle simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are 
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Consolidated Entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the 
original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue) are 
considered indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting 
is immaterial.

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.

Investments and other financial assets
Investments and other financial assets are measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their 
classification. Classification is determined based on the purpose of the acquisition and subsequent reclassification 
to other categories is restricted. The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. For unlisted 
investments, the Consolidated Entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent 
arms length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis 
and option pricing models.
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Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have 
been transferred and the Consolidated Entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. They are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired.

Impairment of financial assets

The Consolidated Entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulty of the 
issuer or obligor; a breach of contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to a borrower 
concessions due to economic or legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise do; it becomes probable that the 
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for the financial 
asset; or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows. 

The amount of the impairment allowance for loans and receivables carried at amortised cost is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. If there is a reversal of impairment, the reversal can not exceed the amortised cost that would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised and is reversed to profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Network equipment 5 - 8 years•	

Plant and equipment 5 - 8 years    •	

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting 
date.

Leasehold improvements and plant and equipment under lease are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease 
or the estimated useful life of the assets, whichever is shorter.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to 
the Consolidated Entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit 
or loss.

leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependant on the use of a specific asset or assets 
and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all 
the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of leased assets, and operating leases, under which the lessor effectively 
retains substantially all such risks and benefits.

Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability are established at the present value of minimum lease 
payments. Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease liability and the finance costs, 
so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Leased assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the assets’ useful lives or over the shorter of the 
asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Consolidated Entity will obtain ownership 
at the end of the lease term.
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NOTE 1. SIGNIfICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Operating lease payments, net of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair 
value at the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Intangible 
assets are subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in 
profit or loss arising from the derecognition of an intangible asset is measured as the difference between net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangibles are 
reviewed annually. Changes in expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by 
changing the amortisation method or period.

Goodwill

Where an entity or operation is acquired in a business combination, the identifiable net assets acquired are measured 
at fair value. The excess of the fair value of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is brought to account as goodwill. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried 
at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not 
subsequently reversed.

Indefeasible Right to Use (‘IRU’)

Indefeasible right to use of capacity are brought to account as intangible assets at cost being the present value of the 
future cash flows payable for the right. Significant costs associated with IRU’s are deferred and amortised on a straight-
line basis over the period of their expected benefit, being their finite life of 11.5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. 
Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together 
to form a cash-generating unit.

trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Consolidated Entity prior to the end of 
the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and not 
discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Borrowings
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, 
the loans or borrowings are classified as non-current.
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Finance costs
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed 
in the period in which they are incurred, including:

interest on short-term and long-term borrowings•	

interest on finance leases•	

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable the Consolidated Entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 
the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to 
the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

Employee benefits

Wages and salaries and annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 
months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting 
date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long service leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in current and non-current liabilities, depending on the unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The liability is measured as 
the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market 
yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled and cash-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees.

Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for 
the rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the amount 
of cash is determined by reference to the share price.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined 
using the Binomial option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact 
of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend 
yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine 
whether the Consolidated Entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive payment. No account is 
taken of any other vesting conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the 
vesting period. The accumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, 
the best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The 
charge to profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already 
charged in previous periods.
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NOTE 1. SIGNIfICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The cost of cash-settled transactions is initially, and at each reporting date until vested, determined by applying the 
Binomial option pricing model, taking into consideration the terms and conditions on which the award was granted. 
The accumulative charge to profit or loss until settlement of the liability is calculated as follows:

during the vesting period, the liability at each reporting date is the fair value of the award at that date, multiplied •	
by the expired portion of the vesting period.

from the end of the vesting period until settlement of the award, the liability is the full fair value of the liability at the •	
reporting date.

All changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss. The ultimate cost of cash-settled transactions is the cash paid 
to settle the liability.

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market 
conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other 
conditions are satisfied.

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been 
made. An additional expense is recognised over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the 
total fair value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification.

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Consolidated Entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the 
condition is treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Consolidated Entity or employee 
and is not satisfied during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining 
vesting period, unless the award is forfeited.

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining 
expense is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled 
and new award is treated as if they were a modification.

Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds.

Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired.

The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments 
issued or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either 
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed  
as incurred.

On the acquisition of a business, the Consolidated Entity assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities  
assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, 
the Consolidated Entity’s operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the  
acquisition-date.

Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the Consolidated Entity remeasures its previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous 
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.

Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for  
within equity.
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The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing 
investment in the acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is 
less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference 
is recognised as a gain directly in profit or loss by the acquirer on the acquisition-date, but only after a reassessment 
of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, the 
consideration transferred and the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquirer.

Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the 
provisional amounts recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement period, 
based on new information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition-date. The 
measurement period ends on either the earlier of (i) 12 months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the acquirer 
receives all the information possible to determine fair value.

Group reorganisation - Vocus Communications Limited and Vocus Group Limited

When Vocus Communications Limited (the legal parent and legal acquirer) acquired Vocus Group Limited and 
its controlled entities (the legal subsidiary), the acquisition did not meet the definition of a business combination 
in accordance with AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’. Instead, the acquisition has been treated as a group 
recapitalisation, using the principles of reverse acquisition accounting in AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’, since the 
substance of the transaction is that Vocus Group Limited has effectively been recapitalised. The consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared as if Vocus Group Limited had acquired Vocus Communications Limited and its 
controlled entities, not vice versa as represented by the legal position. The recapitalisation is measured at the fair value 
of the equity instruments that would have been given by Vocus Group Limited to have exactly the same percentage 
holding in the new structure based at the date of exchange.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Vocus Communications 
Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the 
financial year.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

goods and Services tax (‘gSt’) and other similar taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the  
tax authority.
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NOTE 1. SIGNIfICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

adoption of aaSB 1 ‘First time adoption of australian accounting Standards’
There were no reconciling differences on adoption of AASB 1.

rounding of amounts
Amounts in this report have been rounded off to the nearest dollar.

new Standards and Interpretations not yet effective
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2010 
reporting periods. The Consolidated Entity’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations, most 
relevant to and not early adopted by the Consolidated Entity, are set out below.

AASB 2009-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual  
Improvements Project

These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. These 
amendments result in some accounting changes for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes, while some 
amendments that relate to terminology and editorial changes are expected to have no or minimal effect on accounting. 
The main change is the removal of specific guidance on classifying land as a lease in AASB 117 ‘Leases’, which may 
result in more land leases being classified as finance leases. The adoption of these amendments from 1 July 2010 will 
not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.

AASB 124 (revised) Related Party Disclosures

This revised standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. This standard 
simplifies the definition of a related party and clarifies its intended meaning and eliminates inconsistencies. The 
adoption of this standard from 1 July 2011 will not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.

AASB 2009-8 Amendments to AASB 2 - Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions

These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. These 
amendments clarify the scope of AASB 2 ‘Share-Based Payment’ by requiring an entity that receives goods or 
services in a share-based payment arrangement to account for those goods or services no matter which entity in the 
Consolidated Entity settles the transaction, and no matter whether the transaction is settled in shares or cash. These 
amendments incorporate the requirements previously included in Interpretation 8 and Interpretation 11 and as a 
consequence these two Interpretations are superseded by these amendments. The adoption of these amendments from 
1 July 2010 will not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.

AASB 2009-10 Amendments to AASB 132 – Classification of Rights Issues

These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010. These 
amendments clarify that rights, options or warrants to acquire a fixed number of an entity’s own equity instruments for 
a fixed amount in any currency are equity instruments if the entity offers the rights, options or warrants pro-rata to all 
existing owners of the same class of its own non-derivative equity instruments. The adoption of these amendments from 
1 July 2010 will not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.

AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. These 
amendments make numerous editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, 
which have no major impact on the requirements of the amended pronouncements. The main amendment is to 
AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments’ and requires an entity to exercise judgement in assessing whether a government and 
entities known to be under the control of that government are considered a single customer for the purposes of certain 
operating segment disclosures. The adoption of these amendments from 1 July 2011 will not have a material impact on 
the Consolidated Entity.
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AASB 9 Financial Instruments and 2009-11 Amendments Australian Accounting Standards arising  
from AASB 9

This standard and the consequential amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013. This standard introduces new classification and measurement models for financial assets as part of 
phase I of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 (being the international equivalent to AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement’). It uses a single approach to determine whether a financial asset is measured at 
amortised cost or fair value. To be classified and measured at amortised cost, assets must satisfy the business model test 
for managing the financial assets and have certain contractual cash flow characteristics. All other financial instrument 
assets are to be classified and measured at fair value. The standard also removes the impairment requirements for 
financial assets held at fair value. The accounting for financial liabilities has not been amended by the IASB and 
continues to be classified and measured in accordance with AASB 139. The adoption of this standard will not have a 
material impact on the Consolidated Entity from 1 July 2013.

AASB 2010-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual  
Improvements Project

These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. The amendments 
make numerous non-urgent but necessary amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations. The main amendments deal with the transitional requirements arising as a result of revised AASB 127 
‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’ being issue; transitional requirements for contingent consideration 
from a business combination that occurred before the effective date of revised AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and 
amendments to the measurement of non-controlling interests; and unreplaced and voluntarily replaced share-based 
payments awards. The adoption of these amendments from 1 July 2010 will not have a material impact on the 
Consolidated Entity.

AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project

These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. These 
amendments are a consequence of the annual improvements project and make numerous non-urgent but necessary 
amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations. The amendments provide clarification 
of disclosures in AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’; clarification of statement of changes in equity in AASB 
101 ‘Presentation of Financial Instruments’ and disclosure of significant events and transactions in AASB 134 ‘Interim 
Financial Reporting’. The adoption of these amendments from 1 July 2011 will not have a material impact on the 
Consolidated Entity.
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NOTE 2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates 
in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, 
estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, 
management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates 
will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below.

Provision for impairment of receivables

The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level of 
provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical collection 
rates and specific knowledge of the individual debtors financial position.

Estimation of useful lives of assets

The Consolidated Entity’s management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation 
charges for its property, plant and equipment and definite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change 
significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. Management will increase the depreciation 
and amortisation charge where useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or it will write off or write down 
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

The Consolidated Entity tests annually whether goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any 
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 1. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating 
units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions, 
including estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the cash flows.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

The Consolidated Entity assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Consolidated Entity and to the 
particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
determined. This involves fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of key 
estimates and assumptions.

Income tax

The Consolidated Entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Significant judgement is 
required in determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken during 
the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Consolidated Entity recognises 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on the Consolidated Entity’s current understanding of the tax law. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and 
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Recovery of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences as management considers that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those temporary differences.

Long service leave provision

As discussed in note 1, the liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present 
value of the liability, attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken into account.
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Lease make good provision

A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs for future restoration of leased premises. The 
provision includes future cost estimates associated with closure of the premises. The calculation of this provision 
requires assumptions such as application of closure dates and cost estimates. The provision recognised for each site 
is periodically reviewed and updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the 
estimated future costs for sites are recognised in the statement of financial position by adjusting both the expense or 
asset, if applicable, and provision.

Business combinations

As discussed in note 1, business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The fair value of assets 
acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are initially estimated by management taking into consideration 
all available information at the reporting date. Fair value adjustments on the finalisation of the business combination 
accounting is retrospective, where applicable, to the period the combination occurred and may have an impact on the 
assets and liabilities, depreciation and amortisation reported.

NOTE 3. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Vocus Communications Limited is operating under one segment, however, the breakdown of revenue has been 
disclosed geographically and by products.

Major customers

During the year ended 30 June 2010 approximately 23.85% (2009: 15.27%) of the Consolidated Entity’s external 
revenue was derived from sales to two customers (2009: one customer).

Revenue by product

During the year ended 30 June 2010, data and voice sales were $12,660,698 and $4,814,282 respectively 
(2009: $3,042,604 and $2,067,252 respectively).

Revenue by Geographical area

During the year ended 30 June 2010, sales were split geographically between Australia, New Zealand and the 
United States totalling $11,809,384, $4,235,411 and $1,430,185 respectively (2009: $4,369,528, $348,287 
and $392,041 respectively).
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NOTE 4. REVENUE

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Sales revenue

Rendering of services 17,474,980 5,109,856 

Other revenue

Interest 5,538 4,051 

Revenue 17,480,518 5,113,907 

NOTE 5. OTHER INCOME

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Net foreign exchange gain 1,236,787  - 

Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment  - 16,000 

Profit on sale of associate  - 100,000 

Other income 1,236,787 116,000 

NOTE 6. EXPENSES

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation

Plant and equipment 78,746 18,357 

Network equipment 295,254 99,569 

Total depreciation 374,000 117,926 

Amortisation

IRU capacity 1,701,215  - 

Total depreciation and amortisation 2,075,215 117,926 

Finance costs

Interest and finance charges paid/payable 378,411 34,920 

Net foreign exchange loss

Net foreign exchange loss  - 5,528 

Net loss on disposal

Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 76,242  - 

Rental expense relating to operating leases

Minimum lease payments 173,475 137,996 
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Superannuation expense

Defined contribution superannuation expense 120,354 45,846 

Share-based payments expense

Share-based payments expense 111,868 5,100 

NOTE 7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Income tax expense

Current tax 1,501,095 82,356 

Deferred tax 513,418 27,366 

Over provision in prior years (133,446)  - 

Aggregate income tax expense 1,881,067 109,722 

  

Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets (note 14) (207,992) 27,366 

Increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 22) 721,410  - 

513,418 27,366 

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable

Profit before income tax expense 5,694,476 947,113 

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% 1,708,343 284,134 

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Entertainment expenses 8,334  - 

Share-based payments 35,511  - 

Profit on deemed disposal of 25% interest in subsidiary  - (30,000)

Notional interest expense 40,420  - 

Tax asset write-down on Vocus Group Limited tax consolidation 293,487  - 

2,086,095 254,134 

Over provision in prior years (133,446)  - 

Prior year tax losses not recognised now recouped  - (144,412)

Prior year temporary differences not recognised now recognised (52,736)  - 

Investment allowance (18,846)  - 

Income tax expense 1,881,067 109,722 

Amounts charged/(credited) directly to equity

Deferred tax assets (note 14) (222,175) -
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NOTE 8. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Cash at bank 1,467,277 326,425 

Cash on deposit 11,161,480  - 

12,628,757 326,425 

Interest on cash on deposit is at a fixed rate of 5.5% per annum. $6,524,504 due to shareholders, as shown in note 
16, was paid subsequent to the year end, decreasing cash and cash equivalents.

NOTE 9. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVAbLES

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Trade receivables 2,885,919 1,140,927 

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables (53,000) (35,000)

2,832,919 1,105,927 

Other receivables 940 31,818 

Goods and services tax refundable 45,410  - 

Other debtors 60,821  - 

Accrued revenue 703,672 301,441 

3,643,762 1,439,186 

Impairment of receivables

The Consolidated Entity has recognised a loss of $78,972 (2009: $35,000) in profit or loss in respect of impairment 
of receivables for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Opening balance 35,000  - 

Additional provisions recognised 18,000 35,000 

Closing balance 53,000 35,000 
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Past due but not impaired

Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to $636,111 at 30 
June 2010 ($52,685 at 30 June 2009). Management did not consider a credit risk on the aggregate balances after 
reviewing credit terms of customers based on recent collection practices.

The ageing of the past due but not impaired receivables are as follows:

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

1 to 3 months overdue 427,402 44,222 

3 to 6 months overdue 208,709 8,463 

636,111 52,685 

NOTE 10. CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER fINANCIAL ASSETS

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Term deposits 71,646 69,050 

The term deposits accrue interest ranging from 2.5% to 8.3% (2009: 2.5% to 8.3%) per annum.

NOTE 11. CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Prepayments 115,034 427,585 

NOTE 12. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Plant and equipment - at cost 739,660 138,825 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (110,704) (26,510)

628,956 112,315 

Network equipment - at cost 1,652,387 1,091,349 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (191,626) (141,293)

1,460,761 950,056 

2,089,717 1,062,371 
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NOTE 12. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below:

nEtwOrk 
EquIPmEnt

Plant anD 
EquIPmEnt tOtal

$ $ $

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2008 133,534 102,196 235,730 

Additions 946,045 28,476 974,521 

Disposals (29,954)  - (29,954)

Depreciation expense (99,569) (18,357) (117,926)

Balance at 30 June 2009 950,056 112,315 1,062,371 

Additions 805,959 671,629 1,477,588 

Disposals  - (76,242) (76,242)

Depreciation expense (295,254) (78,746) (374,000)

Balance at 30 June 2010 1,460,761 628,956 2,089,717 

Refer to note 33 for assets secured under finance leases.

NOTE 13. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INTANGIbLES

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Goodwill - at cost 870,958 479,758 

870,958 479,758 

IRU capacity - at cost 20,683,658  - 

Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,701,215)  - 

18,982,443  - 

19,853,401 479,758 

Reconciliations

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below:

Iru CaPaCIty gOODwIll tOtal

$ $ $

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2008  -  -  - 

Additions through business combinations  - 479,758 479,758 

Balance at 30 June 2009  - 479,758 479,758 

Additions 20,683,658 391,200 21,074,858 

Amortisation expense (1,701,215)  - (1,701,215)

Balance at 30 June 2010 18,982,443 870,958 19,853,401 
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On 1 July 2009, Vocus Connect Pty Limited entered into a Capacity Use Agreement, whereby capacity is supplied to 
the Consolidated Entity over a defined usage period in return for a non-refundable amount being paid over a defined 
payment term. The indefeasible right to use the asset has been recorded as an intangible asset. The intangible asset is 
being amortised over the usage period of 11.5 years on a straight line basis.

Refer to note 33 for intangible assets under finance arrangements.

NOTE 14. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - DEfERRED TAX

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Impairment of receivables 15,900 10,500 

Employee benefits 75,648 9,178 

Accrued expenses 16,725 23,040 

Unrealised foreign exchange loss 13,476 3,335 

Rental straight lining  - 8,663 

Accruals 32,462  - 

Transaction costs 61,425  - 

Depreciation 47,072  - 

262,708 54,716 

Amounts recognised in equity:

Transaction costs on share issue 222,175  - 

222,175  - 

Deferred tax asset 484,883 54,716 

Movements:

Opening balance 54,716 82,082 

Credited/(charged) to profit or loss (note 7) 207,992 (27,366)

Credited to equity 222,175  - 

Closing balance 484,883 54,716 

NOTE 15. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Deposits 144,252 88,904

Deposits are predominantly associated with the office leases.
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NOTE 16. CURRENT LIAbILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAyAbLES

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Trade payables 2,090,733 854,853 

Amount due to shareholders 6,523,504  - 

Accruals 271,950 15,475 

Goods and services tax payable 201,265 24,943 

Other payables 540,216 268,755 

9,627,668 1,164,026 

Amount due to shareholders represents the in-substance share buy-back for the exiting shareholders of Vocus Group 
Limited whom elected to take a cash payment in lieu of shares in the Company. 

NOTE 17. CURRENT LIAbILITIES - bORROWINGS

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

IRU liability 3,808,434  - 

Lease liability 443,740 156,252 

4,252,174 156,252 

Refer to note 21 for further information on assets pledged as security and financing arrangements and note 29 for 
detailed information on financial instruments.

NOTE 18. CURRENT LIAbILITIES - INCOME TAX

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Provision for income tax 1,000,286 82,356 

NOTE 19. CURRENT LIAbILITIES - PROVISIONS

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Employee benefits 95,860 32,941 

Lease make good 7,500  - 

103,360 32,941 

Lease make good

The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the Consolidated 
Entity at the end of the respective lease terms.
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Movements in provisions

Movements in each class of provision during the current financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

lEaSE makE 
gOOD 

$

Consolidated - 2010

Carrying amount at the start of the year  - 

Additional provisions recognised 7,500 

Carrying amount at the end of the year 7,500 

NOTE 20. CURRENT LIAbILITIES - OTHER

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Deposits held 301,499 167,021 

Lease incentive and rent straight lining  - 18,117 

301,499 185,138 

NOTE 21. NON-CURRENT LIAbILITIES - bORROWINGS

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Loan from related party  - 202,842 

Deferred settlement  - 312,426 

IRU liability 12,683,154  - 

Lease liability 463,609 171,440 

13,146,763 686,708 

Refer to note 29 for detailed information on financial instruments.

Total secured liabilities

The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Loan from related party  - 202,842 

Deferred settlement  - 312,426 

Lease liability 907,349 327,692 

907,349 842,960 
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Assets pledged as security

A fixed and floating charge secured both the loan and the deferred settlement from a related party. These amounts 
were paid prior to 30 June 2010 and the charge was subsequently removed.

The lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets recognised in the statement of financial 
position revert to the lessor in the event of default.

NOTE 22. NON-CURRENT LIAbILITIES - DEfERRED TAX

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Property, plant and equipment 304,489  - 

Unbilled revenue 120,669  - 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain 296,252  - 

Deferred tax liability 721,410  - 

Movements:   

Opening balance - -

Charged to profit or loss (note 7) 721,410  - 

Closing balance 721,410  - 

NOTE 23. NON-CURRENT LIAbILITIES - OTHER

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Lease incentive and rent straight lining 14,316 138,732

NOTE 24. EqUITy - CONTRIbUTED

COnSOlIDatED COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009 2010 2009

Shares Shares $ $

Ordinary shares - fully paid 51,069,053 10,116,062 6,266,357 750,000

Group reorganisation

When Vocus Communications Limited (the legal parent and legal acquirer) acquired Vocus Group Limited and 
its controlled entities (the legal subsidiary), the acquisition did not meet the definition of a business combination 
in accordance with AASB 3 ‘Business Combinations’. Instead, the acquisition has been treated as a group 
recapitalisation since the substance of the transaction is that Vocus Group Limited has effectively been recapitalised. The 
consolidated financial statements and the share capital have been prepared as if Vocus Group Limited had acquired 
Vocus Communications Limited and its controlled entities, not vice versa as represented by the legal position. The 
principles used in accounting for the transaction are the same as reverse acquisition accounting in AASB 3.

The number of shares on issue shown reflects those of Vocus Communications Limited.
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Movements in ordinary share capital

DEtaIlS DatE nO OF SHarES ISSuE PrICE $

Balance 1 July 2008 10,116,062 550,000 

Convertible notes conversion in Vocus 
Group Limited ('VGL') 21 February 2009  200,000 

  

Balance 30 June 2009 10,116,062 750,000 

Exercise of options in Vocus 
Communications Limited ('VCL') 21 June 2010 2,000,000 $0.60 1,200,000 

Exercise of options in VGL 30 June 2010 80,000 

Exercise of options in VGL 30 June 2010 400,000 

Capital raising through private placement 
and public offer by VCL 30 June 2010 12,000,000 $0.50 6,000,000 

Less: transaction costs arising on shares 
issued 30 June 2010 (740,583)

Income tax relating to capital raising costs 30 June 2010 222,175 

Share buy back in VGL 30 June 2010 (6,523,504)

Shares issued by VCL to effect 100% 
acquisition of VGL (group reorganisation) 30 June 2010 26,952,991 4,878,269 

  

Balance 30 June 2010 51,069,053 6,266,357 

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value.

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll 
each share shall have one vote.

Shares issued under group reorganisation

Shares issued on group reorganisation to acquire 100% of the issued share capital of Vocus Group Limited have been 
recorded at the fair value of the cash consideration received.

Capital risk management

The Consolidated Entity’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Consolidated Entity may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Consolidated Entity would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen 
as value adding relative to the current Parent Entity’s share price at the time of the investment. The Consolidated Entity is 
not actively pursuing additional investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and grow its existing businesses 
in order to maximise synergies.

The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 30 June 2009 Annual Report.
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NOTE 25. EqUITy - CONTRIbUTED CAPITAL

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Contributed capital 62,008 62,008 

In 2009 a related party provided a $250,000 non-interest bearing loan. The contributed equity represents the 
difference between fair value of the loan and its face value.

NOTE 26. EqUITy - RESERVES

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Share-based payments reserve 116,968 5,100

 
SHarE-BaSED 

PaymEntS tOtal

$ $

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2008  -  - 

Recognition of share-based payments 5,100 5,100 

Balance at 30 June 2009 5,100 5,100 

Recognition of share-based payments 111,868 111,868 

Balance at 30 June 2010 116,968 116,968 

Share-based payments reserve

The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of their 
remuneration, and other parties as part of their compensation for services.

NOTE 27. EqUITy - RETAINED PROfITS

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Retained profits/(accumulated losses) at the beginning of the financial year 684,734 (152,657)

Profit after income tax expense for the year 3,813,409 837,391 

Dividends paid (note 28) (1,079,500)  - 

Retained profits at the end of the financial year 3,418,643 684,734 
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NOTE 28. EqUITy - DIVIDENDS

There were no dividends paid by the Parent Entity during the current or previous financial years.

Prior to being acquired by the Company, Vocus Group Limited paid dividends totalling $1,079,500 (2009: $nil) to 
holders of its ordinary shares.

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% 104,760 104,760

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for:

franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax at the reporting date•	

franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date•	

franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date•	

There are also franking credits available to Vocus Group Limited at 30 June 2010 amounting to $1,418,424.

NOTE 29. fINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial risk management objectives
The Consolidated Entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk including foreign currency risk, 
price risk and interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Company has established a Risk Management and Audit Committee on 28 June 2010 and it has general 
oversight of risk management processes at the Company inclusive of those financial risks identified here. During 
the period the Consolidated Entity did not have formal risk management policies, but the risks were monitored by 
executive management on a regular basis to minimise the potential adverse effects these risks may have on the financial 
performance of the Consolidated Entity.

The Consolidated Entity’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 
to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Consolidated Entity where material. The 
Consolidated Entity may use derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge 
certain risk exposures or cash flow hedges where appropriate. Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging purposes, 
i.e. not as trading or other speculative instruments. The Consolidated Entity uses different methods to measure different 
types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign 
exchange and other price risks and ageing analysis for credit risk.

The Consolidated Entity’s financial assets and liabilities comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables, IRU 
contractual payment obligations and finance leases. Based on assessments during the period, the Consolidated Entity 
did not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge any of the risks during the period ended 30 June 2010.

market risk

Foreign currency risk

The Consolidated Entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign 
currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting.
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NOTE 29. fINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of the Consolidated Entity’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities 
at the reporting date was as follows:

 aSSEtS lIaBIlItIES

2010 2009 2010 2009

$ $ $ $

Consolidated

US Dollars 242,424 72,094 16,565,810 11,876 

New Zealand Dollars 161,048 78,438 23,251 13,361 

403,472 150,532 16,589,061 25,237 

The Consolidated Entity has managed its exposure to the currency risk associated with the United States Dollar by 
active monitoring of the currency risk from period to period due to the volatile nature of that currency. It is prepared 
to enter into foreign exchange contracts and cash flow hedge accounting to protect cashflows over a defined period 
under its foreign exchange risk management policy.

The Consolidated Entity considers its exposure to fluctuations in the New Zealand Dollar not to be a significant risk 
given the low volatility of this currency.

As at 30 June 2010, future movements in the USD/AUD currency of $0.01 cents will have an approximate $145,000 
increase or decrease to profit and loss or an approximate $65,000 increase or decrease in cash flow.

Price risk

Competitive pricing of products and services the group will sell may fall negatively impacting future revenue, margin 
and profitability. The Consolidated Entity mitigates this risk by entering into long term customer agreements between 12 
and 36 months at fixed prices for its internet transit product.

Interest rate risk

The Consolidated Entity’s main interest rate risk arises from term deposits, cash on deposit and long-term borrowings. 
Term deposits, cash on deposit and borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Consolidated Entity to interest rate 
risk. Term deposits, cash on deposit and borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Consolidated Entity to fair value 
interest rate risk.

Obligations under the IRU loan and finance leases are fixed as part of the defined repayment schedules. This mitigates 
interest rate risk in respect of these obligations.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a Consolidated Entity basis. Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Consolidated Entity.

The Company attempts to deal with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, 
as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

The Consolidated Entity uses such methods as obtaining agency credit information, confirming references and setting 
appropriate credit limits and where appropriate obtains guarantees and obtains security deposits as collateral to 
mitigate perceived risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets, is the 
carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position 
and notes to the financial statements.
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Liquidity risk

Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Consolidated Entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and 
cash equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due  
and payable.

The Consolidated Entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing 
facilities by continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets 
and liabilities. The Consolidated Entity did not have any borrowing facilities at 30 June 2010.

Remaining contractual maturities

The following tables detail the Consolidated Entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. 
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest 
date on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows 
disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the 
statement of financial position.

Remaining contractual maturities

The following tables detail the Consolidated Entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. 
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest 
date on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows 
disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the 
statement of financial position.

COnSOlIDatED 2010 

1 yEar Or 
lESS

BEtwEEn 1 
anD 2 yEarS

BEtwEEn 2 
anD 5 yEarS

OVEr 5 
yEarS

rEmaInIng 
COntraCtual 

maturItIES

$ $ $ $ $

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables 2,089,735  -  -  - 2,089,735 

Other payables 741,481  -  -  - 741,481 

Amount payable to shareholders 6,524,503  -  -  - 6,524,503 

Deposits held 144,252 301,499  -  - 445,751 

Interest-bearing - variable rate

Lease liability 513,991 430,653 107,641  - 1,052,285 

IRU liability 3,845,938 3,845,938 9,614,845  - 17,306,721 

Total non-derivatives 13,859,900 4,578,090 9,722,486  - 28,160,476 
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NOTE 29. fINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

COnSOlIDatED 2009 

1 yEar Or 
lESS

BEtwEEn 1 
anD 2 yEarS

BEtwEEn 2 
anD 5 yEarS

OVEr 5 
yEarS

rEmaInIng 
COntraCtual 

maturItIES

$ $ $ $ $

Non-derivatives

Non-interest bearing

Trade payables 854,853  -  -  - 854,853 

Other payables 293,698  -  -  - 293,698 

Deposits held 86,904 167,021  -  - 253,925 

Interest-bearing - variable rate

Other loans 515,268  -  -  - 515,268 

Lease liability 188,154 219,639  -  - 407,793 

Total non-derivatives 1,938,877 386,660  -  - 2,325,537 

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than disclosed.

Fair value of financial instruments
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value. The carrying amounts of 
trade receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The 
fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market 
interest rate that is available for similar financial instruments.

NOTE 30. KEy MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

Directors

The following persons were directors of Vocus Communications Limited during the financial year:

David Spence Non-Executive Director and Chairman

James Spenceley Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mark de Kock Executive Director and General Manager of Corporate Strategy

Jonathan Brett Non-Executive Director

John Murphy Non-Executive Director

Nicholas McNaughton Non-Executive Director

Paul McConnell Non-Executive Director

Dr John Keniry AM Non-Executive Director and Chairman (resigned)

Alan Chonowitz Non-Executive Director (resigned)

Other key management personnel

The following persons also had the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major 
activities of the Consolidated Entity, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

Richard Correll Chief Financial Officer

Paul Brooks Director of Vocus Group Limited
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Compensation

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the Consolidated 
Entity is set out below:

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 832,579 179,000 

Post-employment benefits 44,683 10,800 

Share-based payments 81,981 1,594 

959,243 191,394 

Shareholding

The number of shares in the Parent Entity held during the financial year by each director and other members of key 
management personnel of the Consolidated Entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below:

2010

BalanCE at 
tHE Start OF 

tHE yEar

rECEIVED 
aS Part OF 

rEmunEratIOn aDDItIOnS DISPOSalS

BalanCE at 
tHE EnD OF 
tHE yEar

Ordinary shares

Dr John Keniry AM 66,139  -  -  - 66,139 

Jonathan Brett 1,589,391  - 1,205,304  - 2,794,695* 

John Murphy 443,035  - 6,336  - 449,371 

Alan Chonowitz 1,589,391  - 1,205,305  - 2,794,696* 

Mark de Kock  -  - 400,636  - 400,636 

Nicholas McNaughton  -  - 727,598  - 727,598 

Paul Brooks  -  - 1,863,888  - 1,863,888 

Paul McConnell  -  - 10,683,873  - 10,683,873 

James Spenceley  -  - 8,698,290  - 8,698,290 

Richard Correll  -  - 37,889  - 37,889 

* 2,000,000 shares jointly held

2009

BalanCE at 
tHE Start OF 

tHE yEar

rECEIVED 
aS Part OF 

rEmunEratIOn aDDItIOnS DISPOSalS

BalanCE at 
tHE EnD OF 
tHE yEar

Ordinary shares

Dr John Keniry AM 66,139  -  -  - 66,139 

Jonathan Brett 1,589,391  -  -  - 1,589,391* 

John Murphy 426,992  - 16,043  - 443,035 

Alan Chonowitz 1,589,391  -  -  - 1,589,391* 

* shares jointly held
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NOTE 30. KEy MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Option holding

The number of options over ordinary shares in the Parent Entity held during the financial year by each director and  
other members of key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity, including their personally related parties, is  
set out below:

2010

BalanCE at 
tHE Start OF 

tHE yEar grantED ExErCISED
ExPIrED/
FOrFEItED

BalanCE at 
tHE EnD OF 
tHE yEar

Ordinary shares

Jonathan Brett 1,000,000  - (1,000,000)  -  - 

Alan Chonowitz 1,000,000  - (1,000,000)  -  - 

Mark de Kock  - 500,000  -  - 500,000 

James Spenceley  - 500,000  -  - 500,000 

P McConnell, M de Kock and R Correll were granted 200,000, 100,000 and 10,000 options respectively in Vocus 
Group Limited during 2010. These options were exercised during the year.

P McConnell also exercised his 250,000 options in Vocus Group Limited granted in 2009 during the year.

2009

BalanCE at 
tHE Start OF 

tHE yEar grantED ExErCISED
ExPIrED/
FOrFEItED

BalanCE at 
tHE EnD OF 
tHE yEar

Ordinary shares

Jonathan Keith Brett 1,000,000  -  -  - 1,000,000 

Alan Harold 
Chonowitz 1,000,000  -  -  - 1,000,000 

P D McConnell was granted 250,000 options in Vocus Group Limited during 2009.

Related party transactions

Related party transactions are set out in note 34.

NOTE 31. REMUNERATION Of AUDITORS

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, 
the auditor of the Company, and its related practices:

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Audit services - Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Audit or review of the financial report 93,000 18,000 

Other services - Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Tax compliance services 23,174  - 

Other non-audit services * 339,626 9,500 

362,800 9,500 

455,800 27,500 

* Other non-audit services primarily includes professional services in relation to the transaction and recapitalisation of Vocus  
Group Limited.
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NOTE 32. CONTINGENT LIAbILITIES

The Consolidated Entity has contingent liabilities for Performance contracts as follows:

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Performance contracts 50,000 65,000

NOTE 33. COMMITMENTS fOR EXPENDITURE

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Lease commitments - operating 

Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 236,152 172,632 

One to five years 837,532 952,724 

More than five years 234,094 197,025 

1,307,778 1,322,381 

Lease commitments - finance

Committed at the reporting date and recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 513,991 188,154 

One to five years 538,294 219,639 

Total commitment 1,052,285 407,793 

Less: Future finance charges (144,936) (80,101)

Net commitment recognised as liabilities 907,349 327,692 

Representing:

Lease liability - current (note 17) 443,740 156,252 

Lease liability - non-current (note 21) 463,609 171,440 

907,349 327,692 

IRU commitments - finance

Committed at the reporting date and recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within one year 3,845,938  - 

One to five years 13,460,783  - 

Total commitment 17,306,721  - 

Less: Future finance charges (815,133)  - 

Net commitment recognised as liabilities 16,491,588  - 

Representing:

IRU liability - current (note 17) 3,808,434  - 

IRU liability - non-current (note 21) 12,683,154  - 

16,491,588  - 
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NOTE 33. COMMITMENTS fOR EXPENDITURE (CONTINUED)

Finance lease commitments includes contracted amounts for various network plant and equipment costing $1,247,942 
(2009: $355,434) less depreciation of $173,640 (2009: $35,286) leaving a written down value of $1,074,302 
(2009: $320,148) under finance leases expiring within one to five years. Under the terms of the leases, the 
Consolidated Entity has the option to acquire the leased assets for predetermined residual values on the expiry of the 
leases. The IRU commitments includes contracted amounts for the IRU intangible asset with a cost of $20,683,658 
(2009: $nil) less depreciation of $1,701,215 (2009: $nil) leaving a written down value of $18,982,443 (2009: 
$nil) expiring within one to five years.

NOTE 34. RELATED PARTy TRANSACTIONS

Parent entity

Vocus Communications Limited is the Parent Entity.

Subsidiaries

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 36.

Key management personnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 30 and the ‘remuneration report’ in the  
directors’ report.

Transactions with related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Sale of goods and services:

Sale of services to other related parties 1,134,626 780,504 

Payment for goods and services:

Payment for services from other related parties 549,528 80,372 

Receivable from and payable to related parties

There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the reporting date.

Loans to/from related parties

The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to loans with related parties:

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Current borrowings:

Loan from other related party - 202,824 

Deferred settlement - 312,426 
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Terms and conditions

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

NOTE 35. PARENT ENTITy INfORMATION

Set out below is the supplementary information about the Parent Entity.

Statement of comprehensive income

ParEnt

2010 2009

$ $

Profit/(loss) after income tax (943,604) 164,820 

Total comprehensive income (943,604) 164,820 

Statement of financial position

ParEnt

2010 2009

$ $

Total current assets 11,500,355 7,403,200 

Total assets 16,592,616 7,403,200 

Total current liabilities 6,728,641 84,384 

Total liabilities 6,728,641 123,825 

Equity

Contributed equity 10,402,290 6,874,086 

Reserves 103,359 103,359 

Retained profits/(accumulated losses) (641,674) 301,930 

Total equity 9,863,975 7,279,375 

Contingent liabilities

The Parent Entity had no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2009.

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies of the Parent Entity are consistent with those of the Consolidated Entity, as disclosed in note 1, 
except for the following:

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment.•	
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NOTE 36. SUbSIDIARIES

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1:

namE OF EntIty COuntry OF InCOrPOratIOn

ParEnt

2010 2009

% %

Vocus Group Limited Australia 100.00 100.00 

Vocus Pty Limited Australia 100.00 100.00 

Vocus Connect Pty Limited Australia 100.00 100.00 

NOTE 37. DEED Of CROSS GUARANTEE

The following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each Company guarantees the debts of  
the others:

Vocus Communications Limited

Vocus Group Limited

Vocus Pty Limited

Vocus Connect Pty Limited

By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial 
report and directors’ report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission (‘ASIC’).

The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Class Order, and as there are no other 
parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by Vocus Communications Limited, they also represent the 
‘Extended Closed Group’.

The statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position of the ‘Closed Group’ can be found in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and statement of financial position along with the note on Vocus 
Communications Limited as parent found in this annual report.

NOTE 38. EVENTS OCCURRING AfTER THE REPORTING DATE

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2010 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the Consolidated Entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Consolidated Entity’s state of affairs in future 
financial years.
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NOTE 39. RECONCILIATION Of PROfIT AfTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH fROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Profit after income tax expense for the year 3,813,409 837,391 

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortisation 2,075,215 117,926 

Net loss/(gain) on disposal of non-current assets 76,242 (16,000)

Share-based payments 111,868 5,100 

Profit on sale of associate  - (100,000)

Share of loss of associate  - 40,250 

Non-cash interest expense 134,732 26,750 

Non-cash management fees  - (275,900)

Non-cash other revenue (987,504)  - 

Non-cash deferred tax (221,894)  - 

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Increase in trade and other receivables (1,802,345) (1,144,803)

(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (208,273) 27,366 

Increase in accrued revenue (402,231)  - 

Increase in prepayments (115,033)  - 

Increase in other operating assets  - (136,612)

Increase in trade and other payables 1,381,463 802,059 

Increase in provision for income tax 917,930 82,356 

Increase in deferred tax liabilities 721,410  - 

Increase in employee benefits 62,919 30,592 

Decrease in other provisions (131,232)  - 

Increase in other operating liabilities 387,152 91,455 

Net cash from operating activities 5,813,828 387,930
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NOTE 40. EARNINGS PER SHARE

COnSOlIDatED

2010 2009

$ $

Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Vocus Communications Limited 3,813,409 837,391

NUMBER NUMBER

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share 24,328,497 22,705,394 

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:

Options 1,468 483,394 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share 24,329,965 23,188,788 

CENTS CENTS

Basic earnings per share 15.67 3.69 

Diluted earnings per share 15.67 3.61 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the current period has been calculated using:

i) the number of ordinary shares outstanding from the beginning of the current period to the acquisition date computed 
on the basis of the weighted average number of ordinary shares of Vocus Group Limited (accounting acquirer) 
outstanding during the period multiplied by the exchange ratio established in the acquisition agreement; and

ii) the number of ordinary shares outstanding from the acquisition date to the end of that period being the actual number 
of ordinary shares of Vocus Communications Limited (the accounting acquiree) outstanding during that period.

The basic earnings per share for the comparative period before the acquisition date presented in the consolidated 
financial statements has been calculated using Vocus Group Limited’s historical weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding multiplied by the exchange ratio established in the acquisition agreement.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
In the directors’ opinion:

the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting •	
Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as •	
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements;

the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial •	
position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become •	
due and payable; and

at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed •	
Group will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the 
deed of cross guarantee described in note 37 to the financial statements.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

 

 JAMES SPENCELEy 
DIRECTOR

30 August 2010 
Sydney
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Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

ABN 74 490 121 060 
 

Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 

Sydney  NSW  2000 
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place 

Sydney NSW 1219 Australia 
 

DX 10307SSE 
Tel:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7000 
Fax:  +61 (0) 2 9322 7001 

www.deloitte.com.au 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  
 

  
 

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

to the Members of Vocus Communications Limited 

(formerly known as First Opportunity Fund) 
 

Report on the Financial Report 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Vocus Communications Limited, which 

comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2010, and the statement of comprehensive 

income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that 

date, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information, and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the 

entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 

29 to 71.  

 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 

report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001.  This responsibility includes establishing and 

maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that 

is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In 

Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of 

Financial Statements, that compliance with the Australian equivalents to International Financial 

Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising the financial statements and notes, 

complies with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we 

comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.   

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
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policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion. 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 

Act 2001.  

 

Auditor’s Opinion 

 

In our opinion,  

 

(a) the financial report of Vocus Communications Limited is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including: 

 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 

2010 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 

in Note 1. 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report 
 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 15 to 19 of the directors’ report for the 

year ended 30 June 2010. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 

presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 

2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 

conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

 

Auditor’s Opinion 

 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Vocus Communications Limited for the year ended 30 

June 2010, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

 

 
 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 
Joshua Tanchel 

Partner 

Chartered Accountants 

Sydney, 30 August 2010 
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Shareholder’s Information      08

30 JUNE 2010

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 25 August 2010.

DISTRIbUTION Of EqUITAbLE SECURITIES

Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:

numBEr OF 
HOlDErS OF 
OrDInary 

SHarES

1 to 1,000 24 

1,001 to 5,000 418 

5,001 to 10,000 106 

10,001 to 100,000 104 

100,001 and over 34 

686 

Holding less than a marketable parcel 13 

EqUITy SECURITy HOLDERS

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

OrDInary SHarES

number held % of total shares 
issued

Spenceley Management Pty Ltd <Spenceley Family A/c> 8,339,407 16.33 

IWPE Nominees Pty Limited <IWPE Fund 3 A/c> 6,666,667 13.05 

Tameion Pty Ltd <Tameion Super Fund A/c> 5,727,944 11.22 

Tameion Pty Ltd <McConnell II Family A/c> 4,955,929 9.70 

First Capital Partners Pty Limited 2,000,000 3.92 

Investec Bank (Australia) Limited 2,000,000 3.92 

Loftus Lane Investments Pty Ltd 1,973,963 3.87 

Layer 10 Pty Ltd <Wiltongate A/c> 1,845,888 3.61 

IWPE Nominees Pty Limited <IWPE Fund 3A A/c> 1,333,333 2.61 

Daniel Whitford 1,016,666 1.99 

Mr McDonald Whitford Richards 960,484 1.88 

David Preston, Cassandra Lenevez and Mark Purcell <Officelink Partnership A/c> 945,638 1.85 

Alsumary Pty Ltd <The Alsumary Super Fund A/c> 794,696 1.56 

Dalesam Pty Ltd <Jon Brett Super Fund A/c> 794,695 1.56 

Roman Empire Pty Ltd 727,598 1.42 

Anthony Fabian 596,992 1.17 

W Donnelly Services Pty Ltd <The Donnelly Super Fund A/c> 519,023 1.02 
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UBS Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd 517,000 1.01 

Tuwele Pty Limited <Rosella Superannuation A/c> 449,371 0.88 

Monarch Trading Pty Ltd 436,942 0.86 

42,602,236 83.43 

Unquoted equity securities

There are no unquoted equity securities.

SUbSTANTIAL HOLDERS

Substantial holders in the Company are set out below:

OrDInary SHarES

number held % of total shares 
issued

P McConnell 10,683,873 20.92 

Investec Wentworth Private Equity Limited 10,000,000 19.58 

J Spenceley 8,732,907 17.10 

J Brett * 2,794,695 5.47 

A Chonowitz * 2,794,696 5.47 

* 2,000,000 ordinary shares jointly held.

VOTING RIGHTS

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

Ordinary shares

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll 
each share shall have one vote.

There are no other classes of equity securities.

Securities subject to escrow

Class No.  Restricted Until

ORD 6,288,659 30/12/10

ORD 18,865,988 30/06/11
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